
City of Oakbrook Terrace 
 

City Hall 
17W275 Butterfield Rd. 

Oakbrook Terrace, IL 60181 
www.oakbrookterrace.net 

 
 

 
 

City Council Regular Meeting Agenda 
Tuesday, July 22, 2025 at 7:00 PM 

Council Chambers - City Hall - 17W261 Butterfield Road 
 

  



 

CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING AGENDA 
Tuesday, July 22, 2025 at 7:00 PM 

Council Chambers - City Hall - 17W261 Butterfield Road 
www.oakbrookterrace.net 

 

 
Mayor Paul Esposito 

City Council Members: City Clerk Michael Shadley 

Ward 1: Alderman Charlie Barbari and Alderman Eric Biskup 

Ward 2: Alderman Michael Sarallo and Alderman Dennis Greco 

Ward 3: Alderman Bob Rada and Alderwoman Mary Fitzgerald 

 

I. CALL TO ORDER 

II. ROLL CALL 

III. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

IV. ADDITIONS OR DELETIONS TO THE AGENDA 

V. APPROVAL OF MINUTES - CHANGES OR CORRECTIONS 

1. Meeting Minutes of June 24, 2025 

2. Executive Session Minutes of June 24, 2025 

3. Meeting Minutes of July 8, 2025 

4. Executive Session Minutes of July 8, 2025 

VI. PUBLIC PARTICIPATION 
VII. ACTION ITEMS / CONSENT AGENDA  

1. Payment of City Bills: July 22, 2025, In the amount of $296,487.77 

2. Resolution No. 25-12 Approving and Authorizing the Payment of Estimate of Payment 

Number Two (Final) for the 2024 Curb Replacement Project by the City of Oakbrook Terrace, 

Illinois.  

 

 

 



 

VIII.   ITEMS REMOVED FROM THE CONSENT AGENDA 
 
 
 
IX. RECESS TO COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE 
X. MAYOR ESPOSITO 

XI. COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE 
1. Concept Plan – Office to Multi-Family Residential Conversion at 1901 Meyers Rd. (Pancor 

Construction & Development LLC). 

Recommended Action: Information/Discussion Only. 

2. A Resolution Approving and Authorizing the Payment of Estimate of Payment 

Number One (Final) for the 2024 Supervisory Control and Data Acquisition 

Improvements. 

Recommended Action: If the Council is in favor of the request, the draft resolution 

will be placed on the subsequent Consent Agenda for approval.   

3. Ordinance Authorizing the Issuance of a Notice of Award and the Execution of a 

Contract between the City of Oakbrook Terrace, Illinois, and Bulk Storage, Inc. 

for the Salt Storage Barn Project. 

Recommended Action: If the Council is in favor of the request, the draft resolution 

will be placed on the subsequent Consent Agenda for approval.   

XII.    COUNCIL MEMBER COMMENTS 

XIII. CITY ATTORNEY 

XIV. CITY CLERK 

XV. CITY ADMINISTRATOR 
XVII. RECONVENE THE CITY COUNCIL MEETING 

XVIII. RECESS TO EXECUTIVE SESSION 
XVIX. EXECUTIVE SESSION 
XX.    RECONVENE THE CITY COUNCIL MEETING 

XXI. NEW BUSINESS 
 
ADJOURN 
In compliance with the Americans with Disabilities Act and other applicable Federal and State laws, the 

City of Oakbrook Terrace meetings will be accessible to individuals with disabilities.  Persons requiring 

auxiliary aids and services should contact the Executive Offices at 17W275 Butterfield Road, Oakbrook 

Terrace, Illinois 60181, or call (630) 941-8300 in advance of the meeting to inform them of their 

anticipated attendance. 



City of Oakbrook Terrace 
 

City Hall 
17W275 Butterfield Rd. 

Oakbrook Terrace, IL 60181 
www.oakbrookterrace.net 

 
 

 
 

City Council Regular Meeting Minutes 
Tuesday, June 24, 2025 at 7:00 PM 

Council Chambers - City Hall - 17W261 Butterfield Road 
 

  



City of Oakbrook Terrace 
City Council Regular Meeting 

June 24, 2025 
2 
 

 
CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING MINUTES 

Tuesday, June 24th, 2025 at 7:00 PM 
Council Chambers - City Hall - 17W261 Butterfield Road 

www.oakbrookterrace.net 
 
 

Mayor Paul Esposito 
City Council Members: City Clerk Michael Shadley 

Ward 1: Alderman Charlie Barbari and Alderman Eric Biskup 
Ward 2: Alderman Michael Sarallo and Alderman Dennis Greco 
Ward 3: Alderman Bob Rada and Alderwoman Mary Fitzgerald 

 
I. CALL TO ORDER 

Mayor Esposito called the June 24th, 2025, Regular and Committee of the Whole Meeting of the City 
Council to order at 7:00 PM. 

 
II. ROLL CALL 

Roll call indicated the following City Council members in attendance:  
Present: Barbari, Fitzgerald, Greco, Rada, Biskup and Mayor Esposito 
Absent: Sarallo 
 
Also in attendance: Acting City Administrator T. Walker, and City Attorney R. Ramello. 

 
III. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

Mayor Esposito led everyone in the Pledge of Allegiance. 
 

IV. ADDITIONS OR DELETIONS TO THE AGENDA 
None 

 
V. APPROVAL OF MINUTES - CHANGES OR CORRECTIONS 

Motion to approve the June 10th, 2025 Minutes of the Regular City Council and Committee of the Whole 
was made by Alderman Rada and seconded by Alderman Fitzgerald.  Roll Call: 

 
Ayes:    Barbari, Fitzgerald, Greco, Rada, and Biskup 
Nayes:  None 
Absent: Sarallo 

 



City of Oakbrook Terrace 
City Council Regular Meeting 

June 24, 2025 
3 
 

VI. PUBLIC PARTICIPATION 
None 

 
VII. ACTION ITEMS / CONSENT AGENDA 

1. Payment of City Bills: June 24th, 2025, In the amount of $121,029.92. 
2. Resolution No. 25-09: A Resolution Appointing Freedom of Information Act Officers for the 

City of Oakbrook Terrace- 2025. 
3. Ordinance No. 25-24: Ordinance Authorizing the Execution of an Intergovernmental Park 

Use Agreement between the City of Oakbrook Terrace and Oakbrook Terrace Park 
District for an Independence Day Celebration - City of Oakbrook Terrace. 

4. Ordinance No. 25-25: Ordinance Authorizing the Execution of an Intergovernmental Park 
Use Agreement between the City of Oakbrook Terrace and Oakbrook Terrace Park 
City of Oakbrook Terrace - Summer Concert Series. 

5. Resolution No. 25-10 Resolution Appointing an Authorized Agent to the Illinois Municipal 
Retirement Fund for the City of Oakbrook Terrace, Illinois. 
 

Motion to approve items 1-5 of the Action Items/Consent Agenda of June 24th, 2025, Regular City Council 
and Committee of the Whole was made by Alderman Barbari and seconded by Alderman Greco.   
Roll Call:  
 

Ayes:    Barbari, Fitzgerald, Greco, Rada, and Biskup 
Nayes:  None 
Absent: Sarallo 
 

VIII. ITEMS REMOVED FROM THE CONSENT AGENDA 
None 
 

IX. RECESS TO COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE 
Motion to recess to the Committee of the Whole portion of this meeting was made by Alderman Greco 
and seconded by Alderman Fitzgerald. An acclamation vote was taken:   
 

Ayes:    Barbari, Fitzgerald, Greco, Rada, and Biskup 
Nayes:  None 
Absent: Sarallo 

 
X. MAYOR ESPOSITO 

1. Summer Concert series begins 6/27/25 – 9/5/25 at Terrace View Park from 7-10 PM. 
2. Thank you to the Lions Club.  
3. July 4th celebration will begin with a parade.  Thank you Annie Biskup for your help.   

The picnic will begin at 3 PM with free catered food for the residents. This will be followed by a concert 
and fireworks. 

4. City Hall will be closed on Monday, 7/7, in observance of 7/4.   
5. A shred event will be held on 9/13 at the City Hall parking lot from 9-12 PM. 

 
XI. COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE 

1. Concept Plan - 18th Street Terrace Reserve (Gateway Development Partners, Inc) 
Nick Morracco, President from Gateway Development Partners introduced Dan Shapiro, Attorney from 
Shapiro & Associates to present a proposal for a 203-unit podium style apartment building near the 
intersection of 18th Street and Luther Avenue acquiring 7.6 parcels of land.  The development was 



City of Oakbrook Terrace 
City Council Regular Meeting 

June 24, 2025 
4 
 

described as a luxury, multi-family development lifestyle.  Michael, founding partner, explained luxury, 
multi-family development as high-end materials, designer fixtures and smart technologies.  
 
Mayor Esposito stated that the subject property has been vacant for over 34 years.  The mayor 
questioned the benefit of this type of apartment complex to the city noting that the mix of Oakbrook 
Terrace is different than surrounding communities with more multifamily homes vs single family homes.   
 
Alderwoman Fitzgerald questioned what roads would service the complex.  Nick replied that there would 
be a max of 1,200 vehicles per day around the complex with a daily average of 600.  18th Street would be 
the main access point with zero impact on Luther Avenue.  The current water supply would be sufficient 
for the proposed development.  A question asked was, could this project be done without TIF funding?  
Nick replied that they would need to determine the scope of the project and overall cost.   
 
Alderman Barbari, asked what the material of the building is? The reply was a combination of stone, 
cement fiber board and siding.  Construction would take approximately 18 months. All in, the cost is 
approximately 75M.  A 1 bedroom rental would cost approximately $2,500 while a 3 bedroom would be up 
to $4,000.   
 
Alderman Biskup expressed his concern with emergency personnel getting in and out of the complex.  
Biskup asked if there is a similar building already built that counsel could see?  2 complexes were 
suggested to view: 250 Station in Mundelein and 680 North in Schaumburg.    The target market for the 
complex would attract the age groups of 25-35 and 50-65 years of age.  The mayor asked how many 
projects of this scope has Gateway done?  The reply was 5 with 3 being local.   
 
Alderman Greco would like to see something in that area that draws the community together.  Rada 
questioned what the developer sees in the property site? The reply was to spur new development, identify 
with the community and attract new residents.  Other questions were whether the police and fire chief 
have been contacted about the impact of such a development and where would a water tower go when it 
is eventually needed?   
 
Alderman Rada asked if the developer would manage the property.  The reply was that there would be a 
3rd party management company.  Rada expressed concern about the additional traffic this would cause.  
He also questioned the luxury aspect of the apartments and why not make it more affordable for 
residents.   
 

2. An Ordinance Amending the Provisions of the Chapter 30 Entitled “General Provisions” of 
Title III Entitled “Administration” of the Code of Ordinances - City of Oakbrook Terrace, Illinois. 
 
The ordinance provides structure and guidance on how to dispose of personal property such as motor 
vehicles that are no longer in the best interest of the city.  The report will go to the council for review and 
approval.   
 
Recommended Action: Item has been sent to the subsequent Consent Agenda.   

 
3. Resolution No. 25-10 A Resolution to Approve and Authorize the Execution of an 

Employment Separation and Release Agreement. The Employment Separation and Release 
Agreement is consistent with the authorization granted by the city council during the closed 
session held at the last city council meeting. 
 

XII. COUNCIL MEMBER COMMENTS    
Alderwoman Fitzgerald said she was happy with the prompt response from Interim City Administrator, 
Walker, regarding the Strategic Plan.  Fitzgerald will meet with Alderman Biskup to orientate him to 
McArthur Avenue issues. 
 
Alderman Barbari is looking forward to the July 4th celebration.   



City of Oakbrook Terrace 
City Council Regular Meeting 

June 24, 2025 
5 
 

Alderman Biskup gave thanks to the residence in attendance and looks forward to July 4th and all the hard 
work his wife has put into the parade.   
 
Alderman Greco questioned whether the construction fence between the Olivia Brook subdivision and 
IDOT building would be replaced at the west side entrance by the garage.  Recommends that the city 
purchases microphones for the presenters at the meetings.   
 
Alderman Rada will be meeting with appropriate personnel for speed cameras concerning Meyer Road. 

 
XIII. CITY ATTORNEY 

None 
 

XIV. CITY CLERK 
None 

 
XV. CITY ADMINISTRATOR 

Encourages residents to log onto BS&S for their bills. 
 

XVI. RECONVENE THE CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
Motion to reconvene the City Council meeting was made by Alderman Barbari and seconded by 
Alderman Greco.  An acclamation vote was taken: 

 
Ayes:    Barbari, Fitzgerald, Greco, Rada, and Biskup 
Nayes:  None 
Absent: Sarallo 

 
XVII. RECESS TO EXECUTIVE SESSION 

Motion to recess to Executive Session was made by Alderwoman Fitzgerald and seconded by Alderman 
Rada.  Roll Call: 

 
Ayes:    Barbari, Fitzgerald, Greco, Rada, and Biskup 
Nayes:  None 
Absent: Sarallo 
 

XVIII. EXECUTIVE SESSION 
Closed Session pursuant to Section 2(c)(21) of the Open Meetings Act for discussion of minutes of 
meetings lawfully closed under the Open Meetings Act for purposes of both a discussion of approval by 
the city council of the minutes and semi-annual review of the minutes as mandated by Section 2.06 of the 
Open Meetings Act and pursuant to Section 2(c)(1) of the Open Meetings Act to discuss the appointment, 
employment, compensation, discipline, or dismissal of specific employees of the city. 

 
XIX. RECONVENE THE CITY COUNCIL MEETING 

Motion to reconvene the City Council meeting was made by Alderman Fitzgerald and seconded by 
Alderman Greco.  An acclamation vote was taken: 

 
Ayes:    Barbari, Fitzgerald, Greco, Rada, and Biskup 
Nayes:  None 
Absent: Sarallo 



City of Oakbrook Terrace 
City Council Regular Meeting 

June 24, 2025 
6 
 

 
Resolution 25-10 A Resolution to Approve and Authorize the Execution of an Employment Separation 
and Release Agreement. The Employment Separation and Release Agreement is consistent with the 
authorization granted by the city council during the closed session held at the last city council meeting. 
Motion made by Alderman Barbari and seconded by Alderman Greco. 
Roll Call: 
 
Ayes:    Barbari, Fitzgerald, Greco, Rada, and Biskup 
Nayes:  None 
Absent: Sarallo 
 

XX. NEW BUSINESS 
None 
 

ADJOURN 
Motion to adjourn was made by Alderman Barbari and seconded by Alderman Greco. 
 
Acclamation vote was made with all Ayes.  Motion carried unanimously. 
   
Respectfully submitted, 
 
 
_____________________________________________________ 
Margie Tannehill, Recording Secretary 
 
 

Attested: 
 
 
_____________________________________________________ 
Michael Shadley 
City Clerk 
 
In compliance with the Americans with Disabilities Act and other applicable Federal and State laws, the City 
of Oakbrook Terrace meetings will be accessible to individuals with disabilities.  Persons requiring auxiliary 
aids and services should contact the Executive Offices at 17W275 Butterfield Road, Oakbrook Terrace, 
Illinois 60181, or call (630) 941-8300 in advance of the meeting to inform them of their anticipated 
attendance. 



City of Oakbrook Terrace 
 

City Hall 
17W275 Butterfield Rd. 

Oakbrook Terrace, IL 60181 
www.oakbrookterrace.net 

 
 

 
 

City Council Regular Meeting Minutes 
Tuesday, July 8, 2025 at 7:00 PM 

Council Chambers - City Hall - 17W261 Butterfield Road 
 

  



City of Oakbrook Terrace 
City Council Regular Meeting 

July 8, 2025 
 

 

CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING MINUTES 
Tuesday, July 8, 2025 at 7:00 PM 

Council Chambers - City Hall - 17W261 Butterfield Road 
www.oakbrookterrace.net 

 

 
Mayor Paul Esposito 

City Council Members: City Clerk Michael Shadley 
Ward 1: Alderman Charlie Barbari and Alderman Eric Biskup 

Ward 2: Alderman Michael Sarallo and Alderman Dennis Greco 
Ward 3: Alderman Bob Rada and Alderwoman Mary Fitzgerald 

 
I. CALL TO ORDER 

Mayor Esposito called the July 8th, 2025 , Regular and Committee of the Whole Meeting of the     
City Council to order at 7:00 PM. 

 
II. ROLL CALL 

Roll call indicated the following City Council members in attendance: 
Present: Barbari, Sarallo, Biskup, Fitzgerald, Greco, Rada, and Mayor Esposito 
Absent: None 

 
Also in attendance: Acting City Administrator: T. Walker, and City Attorney R. Ramello. 

 
III. Mayor Esposito led everyone in the Pledge of Allegiance. 

 
IV. ADDITIONS OR DELETIONS TO THE AGENDA 

None 
 

V. APPROVAL OF MINUTES - CHANGES OR CORRECTIONS 
None 

 
VI. PUBLIC PARTICIPATION 

None 
 
VII. ACTION ITEMS / CONSENT AGENDA 

1. Payment of City Bills: July 8, 2025, In the amount of $154,869.27. 
2. Ordinance No. 25-26:   An Ordinance Amending the Provisions of the Chapter 30 

Entitled “General Provisions” of Title III Entitled “Administration” of the Code of 
Ordinances - City of Oakbrook Terrace, Illinois. 



City of Oakbrook Terrace 
City Council Regular Meeting 

July 8, 2025 
 

 
Alderman Greco requested that Ordinance No. 25-26 be removed from the consent agenda for 
discussion.   

 
Motion to remove ordinance No 25-26 made by Alderman Greco seconded by Alderman Rada. 
Motion approved via an acclamation vote. 

 
Motion to approve Item #1 of the Action Items/Consent Agenda of July 8th, 2025, Regular City 
Council and Committee of the Whole Payment of City Bills in the amount of $154,869.27 was 
made by Alderman Barbari and seconded by Alderman Sarallo. 
 
Roll call: 

 
Ayes: Barbari, Sarallo, Biskup, Fitzgerald, Greco, and Rada 
Nayes: None 
Absent: None 

 
Motion to discuss Ordinance No. 25-26:   An Ordinance Amending the Provisions of the Chapter 
30 Entitled “General Provisions” of Title III Entitled “Administration” of the Code of Ordinances - 
City of Oakbrook Terrace, Illinois made by Alderman Greco and seconded by Alderwoman 
Fitzgerald. 

 
Alderman Biskup questioned who could purchase vehicles that are no longer deemed useful for 
the city.  The city attorney replied that the ordinance reads that any city employee, police officer 
and relationship via blood or marriage can purchase a vehicle via a sealed bid, auction or public 
auction.  Per the ordinance the city administrator will need to share information with counsel 
regarding any interest in the purchase of a city vehicle via an agenda item.   

 
Motion to approve Ordinance No. 25-26 made by Rada and seconded by Fitzgerald. 
 
Roll call: 

 
Ayes: Barbari, Sarallo, Biskup, Fitzgerald, Greco, and Rada 
Nayes: None 
Absent: None 

 
VIII. ITEMS REMOVED FROM THE CONSENT AGENDA 

None 
 
IX. RECESS TO COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE 

Motion to recess to the Committee of the Whole portion of this meeting was made by Alderman 
Greco and seconded by Alderman Sarallo.   An acclamation vote was taken. 
 
Ayes: Barbari, Sarallo, Biskup, Fitzgerald, Greco, and Rada 
Nayes: None 
Absent:None 

 
X. MAYOR ESPOSITO 

A big thank you was expressed by the Mayor to the 4th of July committee including city staff, 
public works, police officers, and fire dept.  Over 1,000 wristbands were distributed for the 
catered lunch. The catered food and band were excellent. The fireworks were great.  The event 



City of Oakbrook Terrace 
City Council Regular Meeting 

July 8, 2025 
 

was safe with no issues. A special thank you to Amy Biskup for organizing the parade and 
Marisa P., Valerie B. and Jessica M. 

 
The Mayor introduced Margie Tannehill whose role will include Operations Assistance, Deputy 
Clerk and Special Events. 
 

XI. COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE 
1. A Resolution Approving and Authorizing the Payment of Estimate of Payment Number 

Two (Final) for the 2024 Curb Replacement Project by the City of Oakbrook Terrace, 
Illinois. 
Recommended Action: Item has been sent to subsequent Consent Agenda. 
 
Second and final payment to Acura Inc. of $42,126.34.  The project budget was 
$240,000.  The project finished at $212,928.74. 

 
XII. COUNCIL MEMBER COMMENTS 
 

Alderwoman Fitzgerald thanked the Mayor for the 4th of July festivities and Craig and his team 
for the decorations.   
 
Alderman Sarallo thanked all the volunteers, staff and parade participants and Amy Biskup.  He 
spoke with many residents, and they are happy that the parade has restarted.  Uncle Bubs was 
great. Thank you Mayor. 
 
Alderman Barbari thanked the police, city staff and public works for the 4th of July event.  
 
Alderman Biskup added that the city services are phenomenal and appreciated the golf carts for 
transportation.  He felt safe with the police dept. 
 
Alderman Greco welcomed Margie Tannehill. 
 
Alderman Sarello welcomed Margie. He relayed that he had a unique perspective of fireworks 
being at the SW corner of McDonalds and was able to see many fireworks and noted that 
Oakbrook Terrace was one of the better ones.  Alderman Sarello had a question about the 1% 
grocery tax and whether we filed with the state.  T. Walker replied, not yet.  The 
recommendation was to hold off due to the influx filed.   
 
Alderman Rada arranged a meeting that included Alderwoman Fitzgerlad and Steven from the 
Department of Transportation from DuPage County to discuss a development at 14th Street and 
Meyers Road and speeding concerns especially headed northbound.  The concern is for the 
children in the area.  In the short term a speed check will be done.  If there is an increase over 
30% they will need to do something.  Another concern is Luther Ave and the number of children 
in the area. Alderwoman Fitzgerald added that the speed check will be done by August.  She 
added that the area of Luther and 14th will have 11 homes going in at 2.5M each with private 
swimming pools.   

 
XIII. CITY ATTORNEY 

None 
 
XIV. CITY CLERK 

None 



City of Oakbrook Terrace 
City Council Regular Meeting 

July 8, 2025 
 

 
XV. CITY ADMINISTRATOR 

• BS&A emails were sent out, please set up your passwords for pay stubs and your W-2 
access. 

• Water bills are out with a new look. 
• There was lots of hard work put into the July 4th parade by everyone.  It was very 

impressive to see how it all came together.   
• AP has a new format in BS&A and looks good. 

 
XVI. RECONVENE THE CITY COUNCIL MEETING 

Motion to reconvene the City Council meeting was made by Alderman Barbari and seconded by 
Alderman Greco.   Motion approved via an acclamation vote. 
 

XVII. RECESS TO EXECUTIVE SESSION 
Motion to recess to Executive Session was made by Alderman Sarallo and seconded by 
Alderman Barbari.   
 
Ayes: Barbari, Sarallo, Biskup, Fitzgerald, Greco, and Rada 
Nayes:  
Absent: 

 
XVIII. EXECUTIVE SESSION 

Closed Session pursuant to Section 2(c)(11) of the Open Meetings Act to discuss pending 
litigation.  

 
XIX. RECONVENE THE CITY COUNCIL MEETING 

Motion to reconvene the City Council meeting was made by Alderman Sarello and seconded by 
Alderman Greco. Motion approved via an acclamation vote. 

 
XX. NEW BUSINESS 
 
XXI. ADJOURN 
 
Motion to adjourn was made by Alderman Barbari and seconded by Alderman Rada at 8:30. 
 
Acclamation vote was made with all Ayes.  Motion carried unanimously. 
 
Respectfully submitted, 
 
 
 
 
Attested: 
 
 
 
 
In compliance with the Americans with Disabilities Act and other applicable Federal and State 
laws, the City of Oakbrook Terrace meetings will be accessible to individuals with 
disabilities.  Persons requiring auxiliary aids and services should contact the Executive Offices 



City of Oakbrook Terrace 
City Council Regular Meeting 

July 8, 2025 
 

at 17W275 Butterfield Road, Oakbrook Terrace, Illinois 60181, or call (630) 941-8300 in advance 
of the meeting to inform them of their anticipated attendance. 



























Resolution No. 25 - 12 

1303079.1 1 

RESOLUTION NO. 25- 12 

A RESOLUTION APPROVING AND AUTHORIZING THE PAYMENT OF ESTIMATE 
OF PAYMENT NUMBER TWO FOR THE 2024 CURB REPLACEMENT PROJECT BY 

THE CITY OF OAKBROOK TERRACE, ILLINOIS 
____________________________________________________________________________ 

WHEREAS, the City of Oakbrook Terrace (the “City”) is a home-rule unit of local 
government under Article VII, Section 6 of the 1970 Illinois Constitution and, except as limited by 
such section, it may exercise any power and perform any function pertaining to its government and 
affairs; 

WHEREAS, in addition to its home-rule powers, pursuant to Article 11 of the Illinois 
Municipal Code, 65 ILCS 5/11, the City has the authority to improve roadways within its corporate 
limits; 

WHEREAS, the City has entered into a contract with Acura, Inc., (the “Contractor”) to 
perform the 2024 Curb Replacement Project in the City (the “Project”); 

WHEREAS, the Contractor has performed the Project and has submitted Estimate for 
Payment Number Two (Final) in the amount of Forty-Two Thousand One Hundred Twenty-Six and 
34/100 Dollars ($42,126.34), a copy of which is attached hereto marked as Exhibit “A,” to the City 
for consideration of payment;  

WHEREAS, on June 20, 2025, Daniel L. Lynch, P.E., CFM, Head, Municipal Engineering 
Department, Christopher B. Burke Engineering, Ltd., recommended payment of Estimate for 
Payment Number Two (Final) in the amount of Forty-Two Thousand One Hundred Twenty-Six and 
34/100 Dollars ($42,126.34) to the Contractor, a copy of which is attached hereto marked as Exhibit 
“B”; and 

WHEREAS, in the opinion of a majority of the corporate authorities of the City, it is 
advisable, necessary and in the public interest that the City consider the approval and authorization 
of payment of Estimate for Payment Number Two (Final) in the amount of Forty-Two Thousand 
One Hundred Twenty-Six and 34/100 Dollars ($42,126.34) to the Contractor; 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Mayor and the City Council of the City 
of Oakbrook Terrace, DuPage County, Illinois, as follows: 

Section 1: The facts and statements contained in the preambles to this resolution are 
found to be true and correct and are hereby adopted as part of this resolution. 

Section 2: In compliance with the requirements of the Local Government Prompt 
Payment Act, 50 ILCS 505/1 et seq., and the provisions of the Contract with the Contractor and 
subject to the satisfaction of the conditions set forth in this resolution, Estimate for Payment Number 
Two in the amount of Forty-Two Thousand One Hundred Twenty-Six and 34/100 Dollars 
($42,126.34) is hereby approved.  

Section 3: The approval of payment of Estimate for Payment Number Two (Final) is 
subject to the following conditions: 



Resolution No. 25 - 12 

1303079.1 2 

A. The Contractor’s having properly submitted its certified payroll reports for the 
Project to the Illinois Department of Labor; 

B. Verification of the amounts of materials in place, the amount of work performed and 
the value thereof at the contract unit prices; 

C. Compliance by the Contractor with the requirements of the Local Government 
Prompt Payment Act, 50 ILCS 505/1 et seq.; 

D. The Contractor’s supplying, all in form and substance satisfactory to the City: 

1. A duly executed and acknowledged sworn statement (Contractor’s Affidavit) 
showing all subcontractors with whom the Contractor has entered into 
subcontracts, the amount of each such subcontract, the amount requested for 
any subcontractor in Estimate for Payment Number Two (Final) and the 
amount to be paid to the Contractor from Estimate for Payment Number Two 
(Final) together with similar sworn statements (Subcontractor’s Affidavit) 
from all subcontractors and, where appropriate, from sub-subcontractors and 
the Contractor’s Affidavit showing the names of all suppliers and 
subcontractors providing materials and services for the Contractor or 
subcontractor; 

2. Duly executed unconditional waivers of mechanics’ and materialmen’s liens 
of the money due or to become due herein, establishing payment to the 
Contractor and each and every subcontractor or material supplier of all such 
obligations to cover the full amount of the Engineer’s Estimate for Payment 
Number Two (Final) to release the City of any claim to a mechanic’s lien, 
which they or any of them may have under the mechanic’s lien laws of 
Illinois and the waiver(s) of lien, including the amount paid to any 
subcontractors and suppliers, and their respective supporting waivers of lien 
being submitted to the City prior to payment’s being made; and 

E. The Contractor’s indemnifying and saving the City harmless from all claims of 
subcontractors, laborers, workers, mechanics, materialmen and furnishers of 
machinery and parts thereof, equipment, tools and all supplies incurred in the 
furtherance of the performance of the work. 

Section 4: Any payments made by the City without requiring strict compliance to the 
terms of Section Three shall not be construed as a waiver by the City of the right to insist upon strict 
compliance with the terms of the conditions set forth in Section Three as a condition of subsequent 
payments. 

Section 5: Upon satisfaction of the conditions set forth in Section Three by the 
Contractor, the Mayor, City Administrator and/or Finance Director shall be and are hereby 
authorized and directed to execute and the City Clerk shall be and is hereby authorized and directed 
to attest on behalf of the City the documents necessary to cause payment of Estimate for Payment 
Number Two (Final) in the amount of Forty-Two Thousand One Hundred Twenty-Six and 34/100 
Dollars ($42,126.34) to be made to the Contractor within 30 days after the date of approval of this 



Resolution No. 25 - 12 

1303079.1 3 

resolution and with such terms therein, consistent with this resolution as may be approved by the 
officials executing the same, their execution thereof shall constitute conclusive evidence of their 
approval of the same, subject to review and approval of such payment documents by the Mayor and 
the Corporation Counsel. The officials, officers, employees and agents of the City are authorized to 
take such actions and execute such documents as are necessary to carry out the purpose and intent of 
this resolution. 

Section 6: All resolutions or parts of resolutions in conflict with the provisions of this 
resolution are hereby repealed to the extent of the conflict. 

Section 7: This resolution shall be in full force and effect upon its passage and approval 
in accordance with law. 

ADOPTED this 22nd day of July 2025, pursuant to a roll call vote as follows: 

AYES: ____________________________________ 

NAYS: ____________________________________ 

ABSENT: ____________________________________ 

ABSTENTION: ____________________________________ 

APPROVED by me this 22nd day of July 2025. 

 ______________________________________ 
 Paul Esposito, Mayor of the City of 
 Oakbrook Terrace, DuPage County, Illinois 

ATTESTED and filed in my office, 
this 22nd day of July 2025. 

_____________________________________ 
Michael Shadley, Clerk of the City of 
Oakbrook Terrace, DuPage County, Illinois



EXHIBIT “A” 
 

1303079.1 4 

 

 



EXHIBIT “B” 
 

1303079.1 5 

 



1 

Interdepartmental Memo 

To: Mayor and City Council 

Tanya Walker, Acting City Administrator 

From: Melissa Headley, AICP 

Director of Community Development 

Re: Concept Plan – Office to Multi-Family Residential Conversion at 1901 Meyers 

Rd (Pancor Construction & Development LLC) 

Date: July 18, 2025 

REQUEST: 

Mayor and City Council to review attached letter and plans. 

BACKGROUND: 

Pancor Construction & Development LLC, the owner and manager of the office building located at 1901 

Meyers Road, has submitted a proposal to convert a portion of the building to multi-family residential 

use. 

The property consists of two office towers connected by a shared amenity space that includes a restaurant 

and fitness facility. These amenities are intended to serve both existing office tenants and future 

residential occupants. 

Pancor is proposing a phased approach to the conversion. The first phase would involve converting the 

top floor of the west tower into 16 residential units. As these units are leased, the developer plans to 

continue converting additional floors within the tower to residential use until the entire west tower is fully 

occupied. 

The original development was approved by special use. If the City Council is supportive of the proposed 

conversion, Pancor would be required to submit an application to amend the existing special use to allow 

for multi-family residential uses within the building. 

Site Information 

Existing Zoning: M-U Mixed-Use

Existing Land Use: Office

Property Size:  9.63 Acres/419,482 sf

PINs: 06-21-308-019



2 

 

Surrounding Zoning and Land Uses 

 ZONING    EXISTING LAND USE 

NORTH: M-U Mixed-Use Office (1815 Meyers Rd) & Vacant Parcel 

SOUTH: M-U Mixed-Use Commercial & Multi-Family Residential 

(Regency Place & Regency Place Apartments) 

EAST: M-U Mixed-Use Office (2 Trans Am Plaza) 

WEST: Unincorporated DuPage County Lombard Christian Reformed Church & Single-

Family Residential 

    

 
Please see attached letter and supporting documents providing an overview of the project.     

 

 

 

 

 

Attachments:   Letter from Pancor Construction & Development LLC dated July 1, 2025 

 Floor Plans & Unit Plans     

 

Aerial photo of subject property 



 
 
 
PANCOR CONSTRUCTION & DEVELOPMENT, LLC.       
 

2175 POINT BOULEVARD | SUITE 125 | ELGIN, IL 60123 
 

T 847 551 9195 | F 847 551 9196  
 
 
July 1, 2025 
 
 
 
 
Ladies and Gentlemen; 
 
We are the owners of the 325,000 square foot office building at 1901 Meyers Road in your 
community.  In light of the reduced demand for office space, we would like to discuss with your 
board an amendment to existing zoning to allow us to convert portions of this building to 
apartment uses.    
 
We have owned and operated this property since 2003 and have maintained it in excellent 
condition.  Until recently, we have maintained very high occupancy but in recent years, due to 
diminished and/or changing work space requirement, many of our larger tenants have eliminated 
their need for office space, or reduced their space needs.   
 
We must increase the occupancy of this building in order to maintain it in operating condition, 
and, we believe the only way to do this is to convert portions of the property to residential 
apartments.    
 
We commissioned a market study from a well-respected, independent consultant which indicates 
a high demand for increased apartments in the area.   
 
The design of this property, two towers with full height, naturally lighted atriums, lends itself to 
residential uses.  Amenities would include large common sitting area lobbies, new green outdoor 
space, dog-walking area, enhanced security, food service provided by a local restauranteur, 
heated covered parking, fitness center, and indoor pool.   
 
We believe there are home owners in Oakbrook Terrace who have raised families, are 
considering downsizing, but would like to remain in the community, and who would consider 
leasing an apartment in our building.   
 
We would continue to offer office space for lease and we believe these two uses are compatible 
as is demonstrated by other successful mixed use projects.  Our first phase would consist of 
sixteen units on a top floor and when these have been occupied, we would convert additional 
floor as the market allows until the building is again fully occupied with apartments and offices.   
 
 
 



 
Would it be possible to meet with the board and staff to discuss this opportunity?    
 
Thank you for your consideration 
 
Daniel Corrado 
 
Richard Panichi.   
 
 



 Conversion of 
Commercial 

Office Space to 
Apartments

1901 S Meyers Oakbrook Terrace





































Resolution No. 25-_____ 

1303079.1 1 

RESOLUTION NO. 25-______ 

A RESOLUTION APPROVING AND AUTHORIZING THE PAYMENT OF ESTIMATE 
OF PAYMENT NUMBER ONE (FINAL) FOR THE 2024 SUPERVISORY CONTROL 

AND DATA ACQUISITION IMPROVEMENTS PROJECT BY THE  
CITY OF OAKBROOK TERRACE, ILLINOIS 

____________________________________________________________________________ 

WHEREAS, the City of Oakbrook Terrace (the “City”) is a home-rule unit of local 
government under Article VII, Section 6 of the 1970 Illinois Constitution and, except as limited 
by such section, it may exercise any power and perform any function pertaining to its government 
and affairs; 

WHEREAS, in addition to its home-rule powers, pursuant to Article 11 of the Illinois 
Municipal Code, 65 ILCS 5/11, the City has the authority to improve roadways within its corporate 
limits; 

WHEREAS, the City has entered into a contract with Metropolitan Industries, Inc., (the 
“Contractor”) to perform the 2024 Supervisory Control and Data Acquisition Improvements 
Project in the City (the “Project”); 

WHEREAS, the Contractor has performed the Project and has submitted Estimate for 
Payment Number One (Final) in the amount of One Hundred Twenty-Eight Thousand Nine 
Hundred Forty and 00/100 Dollars ($128,940.00), a copy of which is attached hereto marked as 
Exhibit “A,” to the City for consideration of payment;  

WHEREAS, on July 10, 2025, John P. Caruso, P.E., Vice President, Head, 
Mechanical/Electrical Engineering Dept., Christopher B. Burke Engineering, Ltd., recommended 
payment of Estimate for Payment Number One (Final) in the amount of One Hundred Twenty-
Eight Thousand Nine Hundred Forty and 00/100 Dollars ($128,940.00) to the Contractor, a copy 
of which is attached hereto marked as Exhibit “B”; and 

WHEREAS, in the opinion of a majority of the corporate authorities of the City, it is 
advisable, necessary and in the public interest that the City consider the approval and authorization 
of payment of Estimate for Payment Number One (Final) in the amount of One Hundred Twenty-
Eight Thousand Nine Hundred Forty and 00/100 Dollars ($128,940.00) to the Contractor; 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Mayor and the City Council of the 
City of Oakbrook Terrace, DuPage County, Illinois, as follows: 

Section 1: The facts and statements contained in the preambles to this resolution are 
found to be true and correct and are hereby adopted as part of this resolution. 

Section 2: In compliance with the requirements of the Local Government Prompt 
Payment Act, 50 ILCS 505/1 et seq., and the provisions of the Contract with the Contractor and 
subject to the satisfaction of the conditions set forth in this resolution, Estimate for Payment 
Number One (Final) in the amount of One Hundred Twenty-Eight Thousand Nine Hundred Forty 
and 00/100 Dollars ($128,940.00) is hereby approved.  



Resolution No. 25 -_____ 

1305459.1 2 

Section 3: The approval of payment of Estimate for Payment Number One (Final) is 
subject to the following conditions: 

A. The Contractor’s having properly submitted its certified payroll reports for the 
Project to the Illinois Department of Labor; 

B. Verification of the amounts of materials in place, the amount of work performed 
and the value thereof at the contract unit prices; 

C. Compliance by the Contractor with the requirements of the Local Government 
Prompt Payment Act, 50 ILCS 505/1 et seq.; 

D. The Contractor’s supplying, all in form and substance satisfactory to the City: 

1. A duly executed and acknowledged sworn statement (Contractor’s 
Affidavit) showing all subcontractors with whom the Contractor has entered 
into subcontracts, the amount of each such subcontract, the amount 
requested for any subcontractor in Estimate for Payment Number One 
(Final) and the amount to be paid to the Contractor from Estimate for 
Payment Number One (Final) together with similar sworn statements 
(Subcontractor’s Affidavit) from all subcontractors and, where appropriate, 
from sub-subcontractors and the Contractor’s Affidavit showing the names 
of all suppliers and subcontractors providing materials and services for the 
Contractor or subcontractor; 

2. Duly executed unconditional waivers of mechanics’ and materialmen’s 
liens of the money due or to become due herein, establishing payment to the 
Contractor and each and every subcontractor or material supplier of all such 
obligations to cover the full amount of the Engineer’s Estimate for Payment 
Number One (Final) to release the City of any claim to a mechanic’s lien, 
which they or any of them may have under the mechanic’s lien laws of 
Illinois and the waiver(s) of lien, including the amount paid to any 
subcontractors and suppliers, and their respective supporting waivers of lien 
being submitted to the City prior to payment’s being made; and 

E. The Contractor’s indemnifying and saving the City harmless from all claims of 
subcontractors, laborers, workers, mechanics, materialmen and furnishers of 
machinery and parts thereof, equipment, tools and all supplies incurred in the 
furtherance of the performance of the work. 

Section 4: Any payments made by the City without requiring strict compliance to the 
terms of Section 3 shall not be construed as a waiver by the City of the right to insist upon strict 
compliance with the terms of the conditions set forth in Section 3 as a condition of subsequent 
payments. 

Section 5: Upon satisfaction of the conditions set forth in Section 3 by the Contractor, 
the Mayor, City Administrator and/or Finance Director shall be and are hereby authorized and 
directed to execute and the City Clerk shall be and is hereby authorized and directed to attest on 



Resolution No. 25 -_____ 

1305459.1 3 

behalf of the City the documents necessary to cause payment of Estimate for Payment Number 
One (Final) in the amount of One Hundred Twenty-Eight Thousand Nine Hundred Forty and 
00/100 Dollars ($128,940.00) to be made to the Contractor within 30 days after the date of approval 
of this resolution and with such terms therein, consistent with this resolution as may be approved 
by the officials executing the same, their execution thereof shall constitute conclusive evidence of 
their approval of the same, subject to review and approval of such payment documents by the 
Mayor and the Corporation Counsel. The officials, officers, employees and agents of the City are 
authorized to take such actions and execute such documents as are necessary to carry out the 
purpose and intent of this resolution. 

Section 6: All resolutions or parts of resolutions in conflict with the provisions of this 
resolution are hereby repealed to the extent of the conflict. 

Section 7: This resolution shall be in full force and effect upon its passage and approval 
in accordance with law. 

ADOPTED this 12th day of August 2025, pursuant to a roll call vote as follows: 

AYES: ____________________________________ 

NAYS: ____________________________________ 

ABSENT: ____________________________________ 

ABSTENTION: ____________________________________ 

APPROVED by me this 12th day of August 2025. 

____________________________________
Paul Esposito, Mayor of the City of 

Oakbrook Terrace, DuPage County, Illinois 

ATTESTED and filed in my office, 
this 12th day of August 2025. 

_____________________________________ 
Michael Shadley, Clerk of the City of 
Oakbrook Terrace, DuPage County, Illinois



EXHIBIT “A” 
 

1305459.1 4 

 
 



EXHIBIT “B” 
 

1305459.1 5 

 























































Ordinance No. 25- 
 
 

1236465.1 1 

ORDINANCE NO. 25 - __ 

AN ORDINANCE AUTHORIZING THE ISSUANCE OF A NOTICE OF AWARD AND 
TO APPROVE AND AUTHORIZE THE EXECUTION OF A CONTRACT FOR THE 

SALT STORAGE BARN PROJECT IN THE  
CITY OF OAKBROOK TERRACE, ILLINOIS 

____________________________________________________________________________ 

WHEREAS, the City of Oakbrook Terrace (the “City”) is a home-rule unit of local 
government under Article VII, Section 6 of the 1970 Illinois Constitution and, except as limited 
by such section, it may exercise any power and perform any function pertaining to its government 
and affairs; 

WHEREAS, pursuant to Article 11 of the Illinois Municipal Code, 65 ILCS 5/11, the City 
has the authority to construct, improve and maintain public buildings and roadways within its 
corporate limits; 

WHEREAS, the City proposes to construct a 40' wide x 60' deep concrete and wood salt 
storage structure in the City for the public benefit (the “Project”); 

WHEREAS, the corporate authorities of the City have authority, pursuant to Section 8-9-
1 of the Illinois Municipal Code (65 ILCS 5/8-9-1) and its Purchasing and Procurement Procedures 
(Sections 30.65 through 30.75, inclusive, of the Code of Oakbrook Terrace, Illinois) to let by 
competitive bidding public improvement projects; 

WHEREAS, the City publicly advertised for sealed bids for the Project; 

WHEREAS, on July 16, 2025, at 10:00 a.m., one (1) bid was received, publicly opened, 
examined and declared;  

WHEREAS, of the bid received, opened and evaluated, the apparent lowest responsible 
bidder is Bulk Storage, Inc.; and 

WHEREAS, the City evaluated the bid submitted and determined that the bid submitted 
by Bulk Storage, Inc. in the amount of Six Hundred Twenty-Seven Thousand Six Hundred 
Seventy-Two and 76/100 Dollars ($627,672.76) payable on a unit price basis, for the units of work 
listed in the Proposal (as corrected) properly installed and accepted by the City is the lowest bid 
submitted by a responsible bidder and that is advisable, necessary and in the best interest of the 
City to issue a Notice of Award to Bulk Storage, Inc. for the construction of the Project, a copy of 
which Notice of Award is attached hereto as Exhibit “A” and made a part hereof, and that the City 
enter into a Contract between the City and Bulk Storage, Inc. for the construction of the Project 
(the “Contract”), a copy of which Contract is attached hereto as Exhibit “B” and made a part 
hereof; 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the Mayor and the City Council of the 
City of Oakbrook Terrace, DuPage County, Illinois, as follows: 



Ordinance No. 15- 
 

1305965.1 2 

Section 1: The facts and statements contained in the preambles to this ordinance are 
found to be true and correct and are hereby adopted as part of this ordinance. 

Section 2: The City Council hereby determines that Bulk Storage, Inc. is the lowest 
responsible bidder; and it is advisable, necessary and in the public interest that the City issue a 
Notice of Award to enter into a Contract with Bulk Storage, Inc. for the construction of the Project. 

Section 3: The Mayor is hereby authorized to execute and the City Clerk to attest and 
seal the Notice of Award substantially in the form attached hereto as Exhibit “A” and made a part 
hereof.  Further, the Notice of Award shall be issued to Bulk Storage, Inc. for the construction of 
the Project subject to the furnishing of the proper bonds and insurance. The Notice of Award shall 
be accompanied by a sufficient number of copies of the Contract and with all other necessary 
written contract documents attached or otherwise made available for execution by Bulk Storage, 
Inc. 

Section 4: The form, terms and provisions of the Contract and the separate exhibits as 
provided in the Contract for the construction of the Project substantially in the form attached hereto 
as Exhibit “B,” are hereby approved and provided that Bulk Storage, Inc. returns the Contract to 
the City within ten (10) days of the receipt of the Contract with all other necessary written contract 
documents attached, properly executed by it, along with the proper contract bonds and insurance, 
then the Mayor shall be and is hereby authorized and directed to execute and the City Clerk shall 
be and is hereby authorized and directed to attest on behalf of the City the Contract and with such 
terms therein, consistent with this ordinance as may be approved by the officials executing the 
same, their execution thereof shall constitute conclusive evidence of their approval of the same, 
subject to review and approval of such Contract by the Mayor and the Corporation Counsel. The 
officials, officers, employees and agents of the City are authorized to take such actions and execute 
such documents as are necessary to carry out the purpose and intent of this ordinance. 

Section 5: The general prevailing rate of wages in DuPage County, Illinois, for each 
craft or type of worker or mechanic needed to execute the Contract or perform the work, also the 
general prevailing rate for legal holiday and overtime work, as ascertained by the Illinois 
Department of Labor shall be paid by Bulk Storage, Inc. and its subcontractors for each craft or 
type of worker needed to execute the Contract or to perform such work. 

[THE REMAINDER OF THIS PAGE IS INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK.] 



Ordinance No. 15- 
 

1305965.1 3 

Section 6: This ordinance shall be in full force and effect upon its passage and approval 
and publication in accordance with law. 

ADOPTED this 12th day of August 2025, pursuant to a roll call vote as follows: 

AYES: ___________________________________ 

NAYS: ___________________________________ 

ABSENT: ___________________________________ 

ABSTENTION: ___________________________________ 

APPROVED by me this 12th day of August 2025. 

__________________________________________ 
Paul Esposito, Mayor of the City of 
Oakbrook Terrace, DuPage County, Illinois 

ATTESTED and filed in my office, 
this 12th day of August 2025. 

_____________________________________ 
Michael Shadley, Clerk of the City of 
Oakbrook Terrace, DuPage County, Illinois



 

1305965.1 Exhibit A – Notice of Award 

Exhibit “A” 
 

CITY OF OAKBROOK TERRACE, ILLINOIS 
NOTICE OF AWARD –  SALT STORGA E BARN PROJECT 

TO: Bulk Storage, Inc. 
28101 South Yates Avenue 
Beecher, Illinois 60401 

PROJECT DESCRIPTION: Salt Storage Barn Project (the “Project”) in the City of Oakbrook Terrace, 
Illinois (the “City”) 

YOU ARE HEREBY NOTIFIED that Bulk Storage, Inc. has been awarded a Contract in the amount of Six 
Hundred Twenty-Seven Thousand Six Hundred Seventy-Two and 76/100 Dollars ($627,672.76) payable 
on a unit price basis, for the units of work listed in the Proposal (as corrected) properly installed and 
accepted by the City, subject to the furnishing of the proper bonds and insurance for the construction of the 
Project in the City. 

You are requested to execute the Contract and furnish the required contract bonds and insurance within ten 
(10) calendar days from the date of the receipt of this notice. 

If you fail to execute the Contract and to furnish the required bonds and insurance within ten (10) calendar 
days from the issuance of this notice, the City will be entitled to consider all your rights arising out of the 
City’s award of the Contract as abandoned.  

You are required to return an acknowledged copy of this Notice of Award to the City of Oakbrook Terrace, 
Illinois. 

Dated this 12th day of August 2025. 

CITY OF OAKBROOK TERRACE, ILLINOIS 

By:____________________________________________ 
Paul Esposito, Mayor of the City of 
Oakbrook Terrace, DuPage County, Illinois 

ATTEST: 

_____________________________________ 
Michael Shadley, Clerk of the City of 
Oakbrook Terrace, DuPage County, Illinois 

 ACCEPTANCE OF NOTICE 

Receipt of the above Notice of Award is hereby acknowledged by Bulk Storage, Inc. this ____ day 
of August 2025. 

Bulk Storage, Inc. 

_______________________________________ 
By: Zackary Deery, President 



 

1302965.1  1 Exhibit B - Contract 

Exhibit “B” 
 

CONTRACT BETWEEN THE CITY OF OAKBROOK TERRACE, ILLINOIS, 
AND BULK STORAGE, INC. FOR THE SALT STORGAE BARN PROJECT 



Ordinance No. 23- 

12305965.1  2 Exhibit B - Contract 



Ordinance No. 23- 

12305965.1  3 Exhibit B - Contract 



Ordinance No. 23- 

12305965.1  4 Exhibit B - Contract 



Ordinance No. 23- 

12305965.1  5 Exhibit B - Contract 

 






	City Council Regular Mtg Agenda 07.22.25
	City Council Reg Mtg Minutes 6.24.2025
	City Council Regular Draft Minutes 07.08.25
	AP 07.22.25
	Resolution 25-12
	XI. 3. Pancor Construction & Development LLC  - COW Memo 07-22-25
	ADP4E7D.tmp
	2175 POINT BOULEVARD | SUITE 125 | ELGIN, IL 60123
	T 847 551 9195 | F 847 551 9196

	ADP65EA.tmp
	 Conversion of Commercial Office Space to Apartments


	XI. 1. Metropolitan Invoice
	A Resolution Approving and  Authorizing the Payment of Estimate of Payment Number One (Final) for the 2024 Supervisory Control and Data Acquisition Improvements
	XI. 1. Metropolitan Invoice
	XI. 2. Salt Storage Bid
	Ordinance Authorizing the Issuance of a Notice of Award and the Execution of a Contract between the City of Oakbrook Terrace, Illinois, and Bulk Storage, Inc. f
	Inside View
	Barn Pic

